
Moraga-Orinda Fire District 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES 
May 19, 2021 
(APPROVED JUNE 16, 2021) 

1. OPENING CEREMONIES 
The Board of Directors convened a teleconference Open Session at 6:02 p.m. on May 19, 2021, via the Zoom 
application https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87209619931, webinar id: 87209619931 and by phone 669-900-
6833. Pursuant to Executive Order N-29-20, teleconferencing restrictions of the Brown Act have been 
suspended. MOFD is closely following the latest Public Health Order from the Contra Costa Health Services 
issued on March 17, 2020.  At this time, all formal public meetings will continue remotely. 

President Jorgens called the meeting to order and requested an attendance roll call.  Present were the following 
Directors and Staff: 
President Jorgens 
Director Baitx 
Director Danziger 

Director Donner  
Director Jex 
Dave Winnacker, Fire Chief 

Gloriann Sasser, Admin. Services Director 
Marcia Holbrook, District Clerk 

2. PUBLIC COMMENT (audio 1:23) 
President Jorgens opened Public Comment on the closed session items.  There were no requests to address 
the Board.  President Jorgens closed Public Comment. 
At 6:03 p.m., the Board adjourned to Closed Session. 

3. CLOSED SESSION 
3.1 Conference with Labor Negotiator  

(Government Code Section 54957.6) 
Agency Designated Rep: Donna Williamson 
Employee Organization: Employee Organization: Local 
1230, International Association of Firefighters IAFF 

3.2 Conference with Labor Negotiator 
(Government Code Section 54957.6) 
Agency Designated Rep: Jonathan Holtzman 
Employee Organization: Unrepresented Employees 

3.3 Conference with Labor Negotiator 
(Government Code Section 54957.6) 
Agency Designated Rep: Donna Williamson 
Employee Organization: Moraga-Orinda Fire Chief 
Officers’ Association 

4. RECONVENE THE MEETING (audio 12:25) 
4.1 Call the Meeting to Order 
4.2 Roll Call 
President Jorgens reconvened the Moraga-Orinda Fire District Board of Directors' regular business meeting at 
7:07 p.m. and requested an attendance roll call.  Present were the following Directors and Staff: 

President Jorgens  
Director Baitx 
Director Danziger  
Director Donner 
Director Jex  

Dave Winnacker, Fire Chief 
Gloriann Sasser, Admin. Services Director 
Jeff Isaacs, Fire Marshal 
Steve Gehling, Battalion Chief  
Lisa Franklin, Human Resources Manager 

Mary Smith, Finance Manager 
Jonathan Holtzman, District Council 
Amy Ackerman, District Council 
Jenica Maldonado, District Council 
Marcia Holbrook, District Clerk 

5. REPORT OF CLOSED SESSION ACTION (audio 13:11) 
President Jorgens stated that the Board took no reportable action on agenda items 3.1-3.3. 

6. PUBLIC COMMENT - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (audio 13:25) 
Dan Romero, Hercules Councilmember, requested a correction to the March 17, 2021 minutes regarding a 
statement made by Director Jex during the MOFD Board meeting on the financial status of the Hercules and 
East Contra Costa County Fire Districts.  Councilmember Romero stated that the City of Hercules does not own 
the Hercules Fire District as it is part of the Rodeo-Hercules Fire District. Councilmember Romero corrected 
that the Fire District is financially stable.  Councilmember Romero stated that the City of Hercules is fiscally 
responsible.  
There were no further requests to address the Board. President Jorgens closed public comment. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/87209619931


Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 2 of 13 
 

 

7. PUBLIC HEARING (audio 18:45) 
7.1 Public Hearing on Second Reading and Adoption of Ordinance 21-01 Moraga-Orinda Fire District of 

Contra Costa County, California, Adopting an Administrative Citation Program. 
Fire Marshal Isaacs provided the report.  At the April 2021 MOFD Board meeting, the Board held a public 
hearing and first reading on the adoption of Ordinance 21-01 Moraga-Orinda Fire District of Contra Costa 
County, Administrative Citation Program.  Staff recommended the Board conduct a public hearing, waive 
the Second reading and adopt Ordinance 21-01, An Ordinance of the Moraga-Orinda Fire District of Contra 
Costa County Adopting the Administrative Citation Program.  President Jorgens asked if Ordinance 21-01, 
Administrative Citation Program was the same Ordinance reviewed at the last board meeting.  Fire Marshal 
Isaacs confirmed. 

President Jorgens opened the Public Hearing.  There were no requests to address the Board.  
President Jorgens closed the Public Hearing.  No further discussion by the Board. 

Motion by Director Danziger and seconded by Director Jex to Waive the Second reading and Adopt 
Ordinance 21-01 An Ordinance of the Moraga-Orinda Fire District of Contra Costa County Adopting 
the Administrative Citation Program.  Said motion carried 5-0 roll call vote (Ayes: Baitx, Danziger, 
Donner, Jex, and Jorgens; Noes: None; Absent: None; Abstain: None). 

8. CONSENT AGENDA (audio 21:55) 
8.1 Meeting Minutes – April 21, 2021 (Regular). Staff Recommendation: Approve and File 
8.2 Monthly Incident Report – April 2021. Staff Recommendation: Approve and File 
8.3 Monthly Check/Voucher Register – April 2021. Staff Recommendation: Approve and File 
8.4 Monthly Financial Report – April 2021. Staff Recommendation: Approve and File 
8.5 Quarterly Treasurer’s Investment Report – January 2021-March 2021. Staff Recommendation: Approve and File  
8.6 Approval of Payment to Contra Costa County Fire Protection District for Dispatching and Communications 

Services. Staff Recommendation: Approve and File 

President Jorgens opened Public Comment.  There were no requests to address the Board. President 
Jorgens closed Public Comment.  No discussion by the Board. 

Motion by Director Jex and seconded by Director Donner to approve Consent Agenda items 8.1 through 
8.6.  Said motion carried 5-0 roll call vote (Ayes: Baitx, Danziger, Donner, Jex, and Jorgens; Noes: None; 
Absent: None; Abstain: None). 

9. REGULAR AGENDA  
9.1 EBMUD Fire Hydrant Maintenance Program (audio 23:00) 

Fire Chief Winnacker provided the report.  At the April 2021 MOFD Board meeting, a member of the Board 
requested a future agenda item to discuss fire hydrant maintenance. Fire Chief Winnacker reviewed the 
annual maintenance performed by the MOFD Staff, and explained that Fire Hydrant repair, replacement, 
and flow testing is an EBMUD responsibility. Michael Ambrose, Manager of Maintenance and Construction 
and Jose Rios, Senior Civil Engineer from East Bay Municipal Utility District presented information on the 
EBMUD Fire Hydrant repair and replacement program; attached to these minutes, Item 9.1 attachment A. 

Mr. Ambrose stated that EBMUD maintains about 29,000 hydrants in the service area.  Fire Hydrants are 
designed to provide enough fire flow to fight commercial or residential structure fires. Hydrants are not 
designed to fight wildfires.  Mr. Ambrose reviewed EBMUD regulation that describes how hydrants are 
installed and removed.   Mr. Ambrose explained that EBMUD has 4,200 miles of pipe throughout the 330 
square miles of system.  Pipes range from a hundred years old to brand-new.  EBMUD continually replaces 
pipes and has replaced 20 miles of pipe this fiscal year.  EBMUD does not replace pipelines or hydrants 
for the sole purpose of improving fire flow.  Pipes are replaced when they are no longer useful.  EBMUD 
designs new pipelines to meet current fire flow standards when individual pipelines are replaced (e.g., 
infrastructure maintenance).  Mr. Ambrose stated that hydrants are reliable, and EBMUD has no known 
hydrant opening failures in their service area.  Hydrant inspections are consistent with industry standards.   

President Jorgens opened public comment.   
George, District resident, asked how often EBMUD inspects each fire hydrant in the area.  Mr. Ambrose 
answered EBMUD inspected 820 hydrants last year.  George expressed disappointment that the interval 
of maintenance is approximately 35 years for the hydrants and recommended utilizing the Firefighters to 
help with the hydrant inspections.  Fire Chief Winnacker explained that the MOFD staff performs an annual 
functional check on the hydrants and deferred to EBMUD regarding the inspections of the hydrants as the 
owner of the hydrants. 



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 3 of 13 
 

 

Director Danziger asked if MOFD would share information with EBMUD if the hydrant flow were not 
sufficient. Fire Chief Winnacker confirmed and reported that some of the hydrants in the District have 
inadequate fire flows and explained that EBMUD upgrades the hydrants based on maintenance 
requirements and not due to fire flow.  The District does not allow new construction to happen without 
acceptable fire flows. 

Director Donner asked when inadequate water flow is an issue will District dispatch the water tenders.  Fire 
Chief Winnacker confirmed.   

Bernie Riff, Moraga resident, stated that some of the fire hydrants located in Miramonte gardens are 
privately owned and asked who is responsible for maintaining those hydrants.  Fire Chief Winnacker 
deferred to EMBUD and was not familiar with privately-owned hydrants that are not part of the EBMUD 
system. Mr. Rios answered that privately-owned hydrants are the responsibility of the property owners and 
suggested the property owners reach out to a commercial hydrant inspection vendor. 

Nick Warnoff, Orinda resident, asked why EBMUD does not upgrade hydrants for fire flow reasons or 
upgrade pipes when streets are being repaired. Mr. Ambrose answered that it is not necessarily the 
hydrants themselves but the pipes that support the hydrants that may be undersized. As Chief Winnacker 
mentioned, the system is sized at the time when the area is developed.  Changing the pipes every time the 
code requirements change would be very expensive and disruptive.  EBMUD upgrades at the end of the 
life of the pipes.  

Steve Woehleke, Moraga resident, appreciated EBMUD reporting that the hydrants are highly reliable with 
a successful working history. Mr. Woehleke was pleased to hear about the annual functional check 
performed by the MOFD and suggested increasing the residence responsibilities of keeping the hydrants 
accessible with a three-foot space around the hydrant. 

Jonathan Goodwin, Canyon resident, commented that the fire hydrants in Moraga and Orinda are not as 
old as the one located on Shepherd Canyon Road in Oakland next to the soccer field by Fire Station 24.  
Mr. Goodwin asked if the MOFD had any information on retired Captain Willis Lamb.  He was in charge of 
water supply and replacing fire hydrants from EBMUD.  Fire Chie Winnacker confirmed awareness of retired 
Captain Lamb’s work.  Due to the limited resources available to the District, replacing the EBMUD hydrants 
has not been a priority given the many other priorities in the District.   

Lauren, Moraga resident, expressed concern over the age of the fire hydrants in the Camino Woods 
neighborhood and shared an experience when MOFD had to bring in a tender truck to fight a fire, and asked 
what would happen if there was no tender truck available.  Lauren also expressed concern that the blue 
decals are missing on Freitas Drive, Dickinson and Thune.  Lauren asked for inspection records to know 
the order of when the hydrants are bring inspected.  The fire hydrant on the corner of Shuey and Camino 
Pablo is still hidden by junipers, as stated by her husband at the last board meeting. 

President Jorgens asked who is responsible for putting the blue reflectors on the road.  Fire Chief Winnacker 
answered the reflectors are part of the MOFD annual process covered in the staff report.  He deferred to 
EBMUD regarding the inspections of the hydrant.  Fire Chief Winnacker added that residents are required 
to maintain three-feet around the hydrant. Fire Chief Winnacker noted that the blue dot is a secondary 
means of identifying the hydrant's location.  Fire hydrant locations are in the AVL system on the MOFD 
Engines, which is the primary method used for locating and positioning the hydrants.  Fire Chief Winnacker 
deferred to EBMUD in regards to inspection records as the owner of the hydrant.  

Maile Dunn, Moraga resident, expressed concern that MOFD and EBMUD are not working together to 
inspect the fire hydrants and taking responsibility for the fire hydrants.  Ms. Dunn asked about a fire hydrant 
in the Moraga County Club covered with plastic and a cone and has not been functional since the Moraga 
landslide years ago.  Fire Chief Winnacker answered that the fire hydrant was taken out of service at the 
end of Augusta due to the slide damaging the underlying pipe.  A supplemental hydrant was installed, so 
the farthest home at the end of that dead-end was no greater than 1,000 feet from the nearest hydrant. Fire 
Chief Winnacker deferred to EBMUD to answer the additional questions regarding the impact on the 
Municipal Water Supply caused by the slide.  Mr. Ambrose answered there is a temporary main at the end 
of Augusta Drive that does not provide fire flows, and the supplemental hydrant was installed. Mr. Ambrose 
stated that repairing the slide area is ongoing and will take a couple of years to finish.  

Melanie Light, Orinda resident, asked what the official lifespan of a hydrant is and how PG&E and EBMUD 
coordinate the effect of the power shut-offs in the event of a fire due to the required electricity needed for 
the water to flow through the hydrants.  Mr. Ambrose stated that there is no official lifespan of a hydrant 
and hydrants are replaced when the pipes are replaced.  Mr. Ambrose explained the water supply is not 
directly connected to the supply of electricity and the water fed down by gravity. Ms. Light asked how 



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 4 of 13 
 

 

EBMUD would know if there was a functional issue.  Mr. Ambrose stated that the hydrants are used every 
day in our operations and not just for fires and frequently exercised.   

Maura Richards, Moraga resident, expressed appreciation for the Fire District.  Ms. Richards commented 
that she receives compensation from her insurance company for having a fire hydrant on her property and 
encouraged residents to reach out to EBMUD have a representative come check the pressure on the 
hydrant.  Ms. Richards commented that PG&E and EBMUD send representatives to properties and 
recommended homeowners reach out to these corporations and take ownership of hydrants on their 
properties. 

Rod Levitt asked of the 800 hydrants inspected how many were found to be faulty.  Mr. Ambrose answered 
none. 

There were no further requests to address the Board.  President Jorgens closed public comment.   
Director Danziger commented that it is the pipes that go bad and not the hydrant that malfunctions.  Mr. 
Ambrose confirmed and stated that water leaking from the hydrant versus a hydrant freezing tends to be 
the issue.  Mr. Ambrose mentioned when EMBUD replaces the pipes in the street that is when the hydrants 
are replaced.  Director Danziger asked how a homeowner contacts EBMUD with hydrant questions or 
concerns. Mr. Ambrose encouraged homeowners to visit their website for the customer service number.   
 
Director Donner commented that hearing over 800 hydrants were inspected without failure is a good 
indication that the hydrants are a long-lasting piece of equipment. 
 
No further discussion from the Board. 
 

Direct Baitx made a statement prior to proceeding to agenda item 9.2.  Director Baitx clarified his intentions 
regarding the Consolidation with Contra Costa County Fire Protection District agenda item.   Director Baitx 
stated that the request was for information only on what the financial impact would be for the District if an 
annexation occurred.  Director Baitx expressed that what he verbalized about a Consolidation was not what 
he intended and understood that he did not verbalize his intentions clearly and apologized.  Once this was 
brought to his attention about how poorly he communicated, Director Baitx formally requested that the topic 
be removed from the agenda; however, the item remained on the agenda as formally requested by another 
Board member.  President Jorgens responded that he had requested the item be left on the agenda due to 
the public response and wanted to ensure that the public had an opportunity to offer public comments to 
the Board.   

9.2 Consolidation with Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (audio 63:12) 
Fire Chief Winnacker provided the report.   At the April 2021 MOFD Board meeting, a member of the Board 
requested a future agenda item to discuss the potential financial impact if the District were to be 
consolidated with Contra Costa County Fire Protection District. The answer to this question is complex and 
requires further study to present a comprehensive and vetted response.  Contra Costa County Fire 
Protection District (a dependent special district) is currently in the process of studying the annexation of 
East Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (an independent special district) and Rodeo-Hercules 
Fire Protection District (an independent special district). In these cases, consolidation follows a four-phase 
process: 

• Phase 1- high-level financial study to determine general feasibility. Performed by a consultant at a cost of less 
than $10k and takes 30 to 60 days. This step is not required; however, it is the primary mechanism to 
determine general feasibility.  

• Phase 2- detailed study to confirm and develop the general findings of Phase 1. Performed by a consultant at 
an estimated cost of $50-60k and can take up to six months. This step is not required; however, it informs the 
decision to move forward with a LAFCO application. 

• Phase 3- Contra Costa County and the special district pass resolutions of application referring the issue to the 
Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO). Once referred, the topic is the subject of public hearings and 
other steps which can take six months to a year to complete. If approved by LAFCO, the special District is 
annexed into ConFire. 

• Phase 4- following annexation, the former special district board continues to meet to complete the transfer of 
assets and other administrative functions. When complete, the Board dissolves, and the annexation process 
is complete. The process can take up to a year or more, depending on the complexity of outstanding issues. 

Fire Chief Winnacker concluded that the report was for informational purposes only at the board’s request.  



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 5 of 13 
 

 

President Jorgens asked how many written correspondences were received regarding Consolidation with 
Contra Costa County Fire Protection District. District Clerk Holbrook answered 240 written comments 
received at 3:00 p.m. and available for viewing on the District website. 

President Jorgens opened public comment.   
Amy Worth, Mayor of Orinda, provided a written statement from the City of Orinda City Council opposing 
the consolidation, attached to these minutes, item 9.2 attachment A.   

Steve Woehleke, Vice Mayor of Moraga, provided a written statement from the Town of Moraga Town 
Council, attached to these minutes, item 9.2 attachment B. 

Laura Abrams, Orinda resident, former Orinda Mayor and councilmember who worked with the town of 
Moraga on the formation of the District to take over local control from the County Board of Supervisors to 
make sure tax dollars and fire services were not compromised by the diverse needs of the County 
government. Ms. Abrams expressed that a conflict of interest existed for the Board Member who agendized 
the Consolidation item and requested that the Board member recuse himself from the discussion. 

Carol Alvord, Orinda resident, asked if the Board could speak to any possible advantages of consolidation. 

Jacob Airola, MOFD Captain, and Local 1230 Union Representative provided a statement on the 
Firefighters' position regarding the discussion of annexation and stated that the Firefighters were neutral 
on the topic.  Captain Airola expressed support of open conversations about the future of the District and 
District priorities. Captain Airola opposed any decision that would reduce service and stated the Firefighters 
will always provide superior service to protect the community.  

Maura Richards, Moraga resident, expressed appreciation of the service provided by the District and 
requested that the District continue to serve the community members.  

Cora Schoppe, Orinda resident and Firewise leader for the Lost Valley neighborhood, opposed 
consolidation and asked about the process of dissolving the District and what it would take to require a 
public vote and not just a majority Board vote. 

Vince Wells, Local 1230 Union President stated that he suggested looking into the possibility of annexing 
with ConFire at a Board meeting back in March in response to a Board discussion on the sustainability of 
the District.  Mr. Wells clarified he does not question the District’s sustainability and believes the District is 
well funded and in good financial health.  Mr. Wells stated that they had a hard time defending that fact with 
some of the Board members, and mentioning consolidation was out of frustration with that conversation.  
Mr. Wells is aware of the community's desire to remain its own Fire District.  Mr. Wells commented that he 
has been involved since 2008 and was around when LAFCO suggested it and saw the reaction.  Mr. Wells 
stated that Director Baitx asked for the item to be put on the agenda for discussion only and a study would 
need to be done if consolidation were considered.  If there was no interest from the other Board members 
to discuss consolidation, the Board members could have opted not to place the item on the agenda.   Mr. 
Wells expressed that the letters, emails, and public comments have shown the Board how much the 
community values the MOFD Firefighters. Mr. Wells stated that the Union had a hard time convincing some 
of the Board members of this value and thanked the community. Mr. Wells expressed point of personal 
privilege based on some public comments and personal attacks.   Mr. Wells stated he is elected by his 
membership for two two-year terms since 2008 without opposition and represents the two City Departments 
in Pinole and El Cerrito, Contra Costa County Fire, and over 50 firefighters in Moraga-Orinda.  Mr. Wells 
expressed appreciation for the community support and support of the firefighters and hopes the Board of 
Directors understands how highly valued the Firefighters are in the Moraga-Orinda community. 

Donna Johnke, Orinda resident and member of the Lost Valley Firewise Community, expressed 
appreciation of the District, the proactive approach to fire prevention, and opposed consolidation.  Ms. 
Johnke asked the Board about the driving force to entertain the idea of consolidation. 

Richard Marchick, Orinda resident, expressed appreciation for the MOFD and the Fire Chief’s proactive 
involvement with the community and making our community more fire safe. Mr. Marchick opposed 
consolidation. 

Dick Olsen, Moraga resident, former member of the Moraga Fire Commission, County Emergency medical 
care committee, leader in the effort in the formation of the Moraga-Orinda Fire District, and former member 
of the Moraga-Orinda Board of Directors.  Mr. Olsen shared his concern regarding consolidation, impact on 
the local Firefighters and the bidding process for what stations the Firefighters currently serve.   Mr. Olsen 
shared a conversation with Union President Wells regarding the local stations, low activity at the stations, 
and the additional bids from ConFire Firefighters that would occur to work at those stations.  If this occurred, 



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 6 of 13 
 

 

MOFD Firefighters could be bumped from their current station assignment.  Mr. Olsen commented that this 
would result in Moraga and Orinda losing departing Firefighters' knowledge of the local area and unique 
fire risks.  Mr. Olsen opposed the consolidation. A copy of Mr. Olsen’s verbal statement is attached to these 
minutes, item 9.2 attachment C.  

Terry Murphy, Orinda resident, opposed the consolidation and shared anecdotal reasons why he sent in a 
letter (number 108 in the packet) opposing the consolidation and expressed appreciation for the quick 
response times on two separate incidents.  Mr. Murphy thanked the Board for the opportunity to send written 
public comments and for the opportunity to speak. 

Susan Pricco, Hercules resident, commented on the statement made by a Board Member at the last MOFD 
Board meeting stating that the Rodeo-Hercules Fire Protection District is financially bankrupt.  Ms. Pricco 
stated that the Rodeo-Hercules Fire District is in good financial shape and has reserves.  Ms. Pricco is 
aware of Local 1230’s preference for a consolidation, or merger, or annexation with several self-governed 
Districts. Consolidation, merger, and annexation have many different legal and practical issues and 
requirements.  Ms. Pricco stated that the common thread is that the County Board of Supervisors would 
obtain authority over a larger geographic area, effectively removing local control and reducing the influence 
of the communities. Ms. Pricco noted that the Triton study to analyze the subject matter for Rodeo-Hercules 
and East County Fire Districts had not been completed; however, the President of Local1230 commented 
recently at the Moraga Town Council that he was aware of the contents of the study. Ms. Pricco stated that 
the report has not been delivered to the involved parties and is not publicly available.  Ms. Pricco expressed 
skepticism and cautioned the Board before time and money are spent unnecessarily.  

Nathan Bell, Moraga resident, expressed appreciation of the District and the excellent service provided by 
the members.  Mr. Bell commented on the discussions from the last couple of Board meetings and Moraga 
Town Council meetings and expressed confusion on the comments made by Union President Wells and 
other Union Representatives.  Mr. Bell stated that the response to the community was important and was 
thankful the community had an opportunity to share their strong feelings opposing consolidation. 

Written Public Comments received during the meeting, attached to these minutes, item 9.2 attachment D.  
1) Michael Hofmayer and Ann Tipton. 2) Mark McCullah, MOFD Captain and Local 1230 Union 
Representative. 

Gorden Nathan, Moraga resident, commented that he did not see his letter in the public comments posted 
on the website.  Mr. Nathan requested his written comments be included with the communications received 
from the public, attached to these minutes, item 9.2 attachment E.  

Bobbie Landers, Orinda resident, expressed appreciation for the MOFD Firefighters, supported Mayor 
Worth's public comment, and opposed the consolidation.  Ms. Landers thanked the Board for serving the 
community. 

Jonathan Goodwin, Canyon resident, commented on his recollection of Union President Wells comments 
at the March MOFD Board meeting as relieving the District of the financial burdens and nothing to do with 
conservative members of the Board.  Mr. Goodwin supported allowing the public the opportunity to 
comment on the consolidation subject.  Mr. Goodwin recommended that the Board pass a resolution saying 
that the Board will not consider dissolving the District until the voters in the District pass a majority vote.  

There were no further requests to address the Board. President Jorgens closed public comment. 
Director Danziger reiterated that this item was placed on the agenda only to get information regarding the 
process and procedure. Director Danziger stated that he understands the concerns of the community by 
placing this item on the agenda.  Director Danziger has learned a considerable amount regarding 
consolidation and how much our community cares about the District. Director Danziger assured the 
community that the consolidation discussion will end and does not foresee it being brought up again.  
Director Danziger heard the constituents and that the public overwhelmingly supports the services provided 
by the District, the leadership of Fire Chief Winnacker, and desire to keep fire services under local control. 
Director Danziger condemned the personal attacks, and the behavior is not representative of our 
community.   Director Danziger believes that the five members of the Board work extremely well together 
despite some differences.  The District is better off and safer for how the Board has worked together.  
Director Danziger expressed that he has been profoundly affected by the comments and the personal 
stories shared during public comment from residents whose families had near-death experiences and 
survived due to the timely care provided by the District.  Director Danziger thanked the community for their 
show of support and the community's pride for the men and women of MOFD.  



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 7 of 13 
 

 

President Jorgens expressed that he opposed the consolidation back in March due to the loss of local 
control. President Jorgens reviewed the previous discussion and pointed out that a Board member stated 
that local control had gotten several Districts in trouble, and the example provided was East County.  
President Jorgens expressed that statements made by one of the Firefighters representing the Union (or 
anybody in the community) would not support having a change in service or a lowering of service.  President 
Jorgens opposed any change in service and stated that the community has a tremendous Fire District, 
leadership, brave Firefighters, and is fully supportive of the members.  President Jorgens added that the 
District is currently able to set the priorities for the District.  If the District gave up local control, the District 
would not be able to set the priorities or level of service and those would be determined by the County 
Board of Supervisors (BOS).   President Jorgens stated that the BOS is unaware of some of the unique 
needs of the District.  President Jorgens stated that the District has strong finances as several Directors 
have been especially careful to make sure the District provides job security for the members.  President 
Jorgens proposed that due to the public response opposing a studying of consolidation, Staff should not 
spend any more time, money, or effort on studying or anticipating a consolidation study. 

Director Jex agreed and commented on his opposition to the topic when the issue initially arose and felt the 
topic diverted the Board’s attention to the wrong issues.  Director Jex stated that the District has 
demonstrated the Firefighters and Leadership team's creativity and vision regarding what needs to be done 
to make things fire safe in the District.  Director Jex added that listening to the City of Orinda and Town of 
Moraga Councils and the deliberation in the community has heightened the support of the District and the 
leadership to reduce the risks, improve service, and provide a secure future for the Firefighters. Director 
Jex expressed gratitude for the public input and how much the community values the services that are 
being rendered.  

Director Donner asked if a motion was needed to support ending a consolidation study.  District Council 
Holtzman answered a vote is not required but appropriate to hear from all Directors.  

Directors Baitx, Danziger, and Donner agreed to direct Staff not to spend any more resources on studying 
or anticipating a consolidation study. 

No further discussion by the Board. 

9.3 Resolution 21-09, a Resolution of the Moraga-Orinda Fire District of Contra Costa County to urge 
the California Department of Transportation to mitigate combustive vegetation in state-owned lands 
traversing the District (audio 128:18) 
Fire Chief Winnacker provided the report.  At the April 2021 Board meeting, Staff reviewed the background 
provided in the staff report.  Fire Chief Winnacker summarized that the District has been involved in a three-
year discussion with the California Department of Transportation (CalTrans) regarding the maintenance of 
state-owned lands along Highway 24. In conclusion, CalTrans asserts that state-owned lands are not 
subject to the local fire code or local inspection.  The failure of CalTrans to maintain the state-owned land 
along Highway 24 has created unsafe conditions which threaten our community and increase the risk of 
uncontrolled wildfire. The unsafe conditions were confirmed in July 2020 when a roadside fire started near 
the Wilder off-ramp on Westbound Hwy 24 rapidly spreading upslope towards upper El Toyonal, burning 
on to EBMUD watershed in violation of Health and Safety Code 13000 and 13008. As a state agency, 
CalTrans asserted that they are not subject to MOFD’s Fire Code. They have further asserted that Public 
Resource Code defensible space requirements do not apply to state agencies. As such, MOFD does not 
appear to have the authority to order CalTrans to abate these unsafe conditions.  Staff recommended 
adopting Resolution 21-09, a resolution of the Moraga-Orinda Fire District of Contra Costa County to urge 
the California Department of Transportation to mitigate combustive vegetation in state-owned lands 
traversing the District. 

President Jorgens opened the public comment. There were no requests to address the Board.  
President Jorgens closed public comment. 
Director Danziger requested the Resolution be delivered to the appropriate CalTrans representatives and 
elected State representatives, the City of Orinda, the Town of Moraga, and the Board of Supervisors.  Fire 
Chief Winnacker confirmed and stated that the Resolution will have an impact when inevitably there is a 
roadside fire resulting from CalTrans failure to maintain the roadside. The Resolution forms the basis for 
follow-on action.  Director Danziger added that it is egregious that CalTrans has not followed through and 
offered the suggestion that maybe elected officials, Senator Glazer and Assemblymember Bauer-Kahan, 
can take some action at their level. 
No further discussion by the Board. 



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 8 of 13 
 

 

Motion by Director Danziger and seconded by Director Donner to Adopt Resolution 21-09, a 
resolution of the Moraga-Orinda Fire District of Contra Costa County to urge the California 
Department of Transportation to mitigate combustive vegetation in state-owned lands traversing 
the District.  Said motion carried 5-0 roll call vote (Ayes: Baitx, Danziger, Donner, Jex, and Jorgens; 
Noes: None; Absent: None; Abstain: None). 

9.4 Proposed Annual Operating Budget Fiscal Year 2022 (audio 133:45) 
Administrative Services Director Sasser provided the report and shared a presentation, attached to these 
minutes, item 9.4 Attachment A.  On April 21, 2021, a public budget workshop was held, which provided an 
opportunity for the Board and the public to discuss the draft Budget. Staff presented a proposed budget 
which is the second step in the public budget process, and provided additional opportunity for public input 
and Board direction. The Budget is scheduled for adoption at the June Board meeting, which is a best 
business practice. The latest date the Board can adopt the Budget is October 2021.  

ASD Sasser reviewed the changes made from the April workshop.  Station 44 exercise equipment and 
painting of the exterior trim were moved from the Capital Projects Fund to the General Fund.  The proposed 
Budget includes General Fund revenue of $28.7M, General Fund expenditures of $28M, and a budget 
surplus of $744K.  Many of the District's expenditures are required based on contractual, operational, or 
legal requirements.  Some expenditures are not mandatory; however, represent a continuation of effort.  

The non-discretionary expenditures total $24.1M.   

• Salaries and benefits - Suppression staff-$18,418,849 
• Salaries and benefits - Administration staff-$1,146,489 
• Worker's compensation insurance-$1,033,239 
• Retiree health insurance-$876,000 
• Unemployment insurance-$11,000 
• Operating Expenses-$2,625,450 
 

Discretionary/Continuation of Effort total $3.8M 
• Pension rate stabilization trust contribution-$2,362,470  
• Salaries and benefits - Fuels Mitigation staff-$481,000 
• OPEB trust contribution-$434,528 
• Emergency Preparedness/CERT-$277,337 
• Fuels mitigation operating expenses-$100,000 
• Fire Chief contingency-$100,000 
• Discretionary training-$35,000 
• Fire station furniture-$12,000 
• Exercise equipment-$14,000 
• GIS mapping-$5,000 
• Hat badges-$4,700 
 

Authorized positions included in the draft budget are the same number of positions as the prior year.  Board-
5, Finance-3.1, Human Resources-2.25, Information Technology-0.25, Suppression Staffing-61, Fire 
Prevention-1, Fuels Mitigation-4, Emergency Preparedness-0.5, Total-77.1 FTE. 

Fire Chief Winnacker highlighted the General Fund Goals. Emergency Operations (Develop wildland fire 
response plan), Emergency Medical Services (Provide COVID-19 support to District personnel and Contra 
Costa County Health Services), and Training (Develop the training site at Station 41).  Fire Prevention goals 
include the continuation of community chipping services, adopting citation authority and process, and 
Developing technology-based systems to increase the efficiency of assessments.  Administration goals 
include implementing new software to produce the board meeting agenda and packets and technology 
improvements for the accounts payable process.   

Fire Chief Winnacker reviewed the Capital Projects. Chipper and Truck-$180K Capital Outlay - LifePak 15 
Monitor 2x-$80K, Capital Outlay - Oxygen Generator and Fill Station-$65K, Capital Outlay - Utility Pickup -
$55K, Capital Outlay - E-43 Hurst Extrication Tools-$38K, Station 42 Landscaping-$20K, Station 44 
Landscaping-$20K, total $458K.  The draft budget does not include any money for the Station 
41/Administration rebuild project or the upgrade of Station 45, pending Board direction.  Staff requested 
direction on available property tax revenue due to the conclusion of the pension obligation bonds - $2.154M, 
General Fund discretionary expenditure budget, and Station 41/Administration rebuild project, Capital 
projects purchases, and any other direction regarding the proposed Budget. 

Director Jex asked if the difference in revenue for the Debt Service Fund from FY2021 and FY2022 is due 
to the timing of the payment.  ASD Sasser confirmed and explained the difference is due to the way the 
bonds were structured.  

Director Danziger asked if the Fuels Mitigation budget of $100K is the chipper program.  ASD Sasser 
confirmed.  Director Danziger asked if the $180K to purchase the Chipper is a difference of $80K, and 
MOFD would own the Chipper.  ASD Sasser explained the purchase of the Chipper would come out of the 
Capital Projects Fund.  The $180K for the Chipper and Truck is separate from the $100K.  The $100K is 
primarily used when MOFD contracts out the Fuels Mitigation work.  Director Danziger wondered if the 
Directors needed to discuss the options of renting versus purchasing the Chipper and Truck and if there 



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 9 of 13 
 

 

was an opportunity to purchase the equipment MOFD is currently renting.  Fire Chief Winnacker answered 
that MOFD does not have a lease-to-own option with the current month-to-month lease.  Director Danziger 
stated that the Chipper is the largest expenditure in the Capital Projects and asked how other Directors felt 
about purchasing verse continuing to lease.  Director Danziger asked about the direction given at the last 
meeting on some of the Capital Projects items.  Fire Chief Winnacker stated that if the proposed Budget is 
supported, the items do not require a line-by-line review.  In the absence of direction by the Board the 
proposed Budget would be brought back for adoption in June. Director Danziger asked if the grant approved 
to put solar on the firehouses would remove the District from the PG&E grid.  Fire Chief Winnacker 
answered the stations will not be off the grid. Fire Chief Winnacker explained the purpose of the system 
and grant is to provide continuity of power during a public safety power shut off.  The systems intend to be 
a solar system with a battery backup sized and/or built to provide uninterrupted power in conjunction with 
the existing generator systems.   

President Jorgens opened Public Comment.   
Written public comment statements were read into the record by Staff.  Written public comments are 
attached to these minutes, item 9.4, attachment A. 1) Mark McCullah, MOFD Captain and Local 1230 
Union Representative. 

Carol Alvord, Orinda resident, asked if the District is considering drones to assess properties and if the 
District is considering using an electric utility truck.  Fire Chief Winnacker answered that MOFD has a 
robust drone program.  Due to privacy concerns, MOFD does not use drones for inspections of occupied 
parcels, but utilizes drones for large undeveloped parcels to visualize difficult-to-reach areas of those large 
undeveloped parcels.  MOFD is not considering an electric truck because these vehicles are used in out-
of-county wildfire incidents where there is no access to a charging station. Given the emergency nature 
of the assignment, it would not be practical due to the limited range of the battery with current technology. 

Jonathan Goodwin, Canyon resident, suggested a rephrasing of the instructions for participants to 
participate in verbal public comment during the webinars.  Mr. Goodwin asked if the Chief has come up 
with ideas on providing more continuity of the Chipping Staff.  Fire Chief Winnacker answered that the Fuel 
Mitigation position is a limited-term position and limited to three years. The position was created with an 
understanding that it is not a career position and is a position for those who are looking for entry into the 
fire service. The District invests a significant amount of time in professional development to help employees 
on their journey to future fire service employment. Fire Chief Winnacker agreed that it will always be a 
challenge to sustain Staff who are cheerful, engaged, and excellent public speakers and willing to feed a 
Chipper for significant portions of their workday.  Fire Chief Winnacker explained one of the ways MOFD 
has recently implemented was hiring a contracted Crew to provided the labor to continue Chipping service.  

Charles Porges, Orinda resident, requested that the Board provide a continuous, uninterrupted, year-round 
Chipper service.  Mr. Porges expressed frustration that the services were on-again and off-again and felt 
disruptive, confusing, and occurred without an announcement.  Mr. Porges recommended offering two 
Chipper services year-round to help rid the community of the excess fuel.  President Jorgens answered 
that at the last board meeting, the Board agreed to run the Chipper program through mid-June.  A private 
Crew will be performing the chipping when the MOFD Staff are performing inspections. 

Inga Miller, Councilmember City of Orinda, expressed appreciation of the Chipper program.  Orinda 
residents have passed Measure R to help fund an additional Chipper program for Orinda residences in 
concert with the MOFD.  The Measure R funding is intended to provide services and projects that are in 
addition to and not a replacement of fuel mitigation work of the MOFD.    

There were no further requests to address the Board.  President Jorgens closed Public Comment. 
Director Donner asked if the Chipper program works in conjunction during the inspection compliance time 
period.  Fire Chief Winnacker confirmed.  

Director Danziger asked about starting the process for the Station 41 rebuild and requested $100K be 
budgeted for the rebuild to begin the process.  Fire Chief Winnacker replied that the timeline would be 
determined once a decision is made concerning how Station 41 and the Administration office will be funded.   

President Jorgens commented that the Board is due to have a closed session discussion regarding the 
status of negotiations for rebuild.  President Jorgens added that the long-range Financial Forecast also 
needs to come back to the Board for discussion because that is where the finances are discussed.  
President Jorgens supported the additional spending if determined appropriate after the closed session.  
Director Danziger suggested adding these items under future agenda items. 

No further discussion by the Board. 



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 10 of 13 
 

 

9.5 Resolution 21-08 – Adopting revised Rules of Procedure for Board Meetings and related Functions 
and Activities Board Rules & Procedures (audio 167:05) 
District Council Ackerman provided the report.  District Council Ackerman introduced the revised rules and 
provided an overview of the recommended changes. District Council Ackerman explained that District 
Counsel reviewed the existing rules and relevant board practices to ensure that the board rules complied 
with all of the governing laws that govern the District.  District Counsel Ackerman clarified procedures that 
were either confusing or did not address specific rules required to be done by Ordinance or Resolution.  A 
Board member suggested adding all actions that require a supermajority.   

District Council Ackerman reviewed changes made that applied to the adoption of the Budget and specific 
requirements when adopting fee ordinances.  Other changes included procedures for acting as the Board 
of Appeals (hearing abatement issues) and the fair process rules that are not from a specific statute but 
from case law or Attorney General opinions.  District Council Ackerman suggested that the Directors study 
the revised rules and procedures and bring the item back for adoption next month.    

Director Jex asked if the supermajority voting information would be added to quorum and vote section 3.4 
of the rules.  District Council Ackerman stated that a page would be added at the back of the rules for all 
the actions that require either 3/5, 4/5, or unanimous vote.   

Directed Danziger asked about the recommended change of eliminating the positions of Board Secretary 
and Treasurer. District Council Ackerman explained that the Fire District law sets out specific duties for the 
positions currently carried out by Staff. Direct Danziger inquired on section 2.3, that a President cannot 
serve for two consecutive terms. District Council Ackerman answered that it is at the pleasure of the Board 
and is not a legal requirement. District Council Holtzman added that a review was done of the rules of 
similar districts.  If something was in the rules of many other Districts, counsel applied the rule.  Director 
Danziger requested that this rule not be included in the revised rules.  Director Jex agreed.  President 
Jorgens supported having the new rule added and commented that both the Moraga Town Council and the 
Orinda City Council rotate the position. 

President Jorgens opened Public Comment.   
Jonathan Goodwin, Canyon resident, asked if the revised rules require the Board to take public comment 
at the beginning of the item and prior to a vote.  District Council Ackerman answered that the Brown Act 
requires public comment on the item before or during deliberation, but not twice. There is case law that 
states this is a government process, and the Board has a duty to act in a reasonably efficient manner.  Mr. 
Goodwin requested that the Board consider a way to take public comment before and after the item is 
discussed. 

Charles Porges, Orinda resident, agreed, and having the ability to comment after the fact is appropriate as 
Mr. Porges wanted to provide additional comments on the Chipper program. Mr. Porges asked if the rules 
on recusals and conflicts of interests had been updated to current standards.  District Council Ackerman, 
said there were no changes made to the rules and how they are referenced from the previous version of 
the Board rules and procedures.  

Stephen Trotter (Chat Message/Question) asked if the Attorney inquired with CSDA about these types of 
rules.  District Council Ackerman confirmed. 

There were no further requests to address the Board.  President Jorgens closed Public Comment. 
Director Danziger asked about the additional regular board meeting added to the June, July, August, 
September, and October schedule.  District Council Ackerman answered the additional meetings are to 
accommodate the anticipated increase in Weed Abatement hearings. Fire Chief Winnacker added the 
request for the additional regular meetings during the summer months is to prevent the hearings from 
carrying over into the winter.  Staff is seeking to avoid people doing lien-funded work in the high fire months 
in the fall.  

Director Jorgens recommended moving the item for adoption to the next board meeting to allow more time 
for the directors to review.  Directors Baitx, Danziger, Donner and Jex agreed.  District Council Holtzman 
encouraged the Board to contact District Council Ackerman for questions/comments. 

9.6 Approval of Grant Management Policy to Allow the Fire Chief to Accept No-Match Fuel Reduction 
Grants For Services Up to $200,000 (audio 194:17) 
Fire Chief Winnacker provided the report.  The District’s Grant Management Policy requires the Board of 
Directors to accept all grants and appropriate funds before grant funds are expended. At the April 21, 2021 
Board meeting, the Board directed Staff to update the Policy to allow the Fire Chief to accept no match fuel 
reduction grants for services up to $100K. The Fire Chief requested authority to accept no match fuel 



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 11 of 13 
 

 

reduction grants for services up to $200K.  Fire Chief Winnacker reviewed the different grant opportunities 
and potential. 

Director Donner asked how the $200K was determined.  Fire Chief Winnacker answered the initial proposal 
was $100K to match the contract authority; however, a grant opportunity of $150K was presented by CAL 
FIRE. Staff determined that $200K was more appropriate due to the size of the incoming grants.  Director 
Donner asked if the approval amount needed to be increased.  Fire Chief Winnacker stated that $200K is 
a comfortable threshold. 

Director Jex suggested increasing the amount to $300K and require consultation with the Chief Financial 
Officer of the District, requiring two people to approve the acceptance of the grant. 

Director Baitx asked if there are grant opportunities of more than $200K.  Fire Chief Winnacker stated that 
historically grants ranged from $5K to $30K, and the increased amounts in grant offerings are uncharted 
territory.  Fire Chief Winnacker expressed that the $200K is a good starting point. Staff will request changes 
if it is determined that the amount is too low or too high. 

Director Jex commented that these kinds of contracts are low-risk in most cases and recommended 
increasing the amount.   

President Jorgens suggested $200K giving the Fire Chief authority and $300K requiring the CFO’s 
additional approval.  Directors Donner and Danziger agreed. 

President Jorgens opened Public Comment. 
Jonathan Goodwin, Canyon resident, requested to see a planning process for spending the funds. Fire 
Chief Winnacker answered that Section 5 of the CWPP prioritizes projects and is available on the website.   

There were no further requests to address the Board.  President Jorgens closed Public Comment. 
No further discussion by the Board. 
Motion by Director Jex and seconded by Director Donner to amend and approve the Grant 
Management Policy to allow the Fire Chief to accept no-match fuel reduction grants for services up 
to $200,000 and allow the Fire Chief to accept no-match fuel reduction grants for services up to 
$300,000 with the Chief Financial Officer approval.  Said motion carried 5-0 roll call vote (Ayes: 
Baitx, Danziger, Donner, Jex, and Jorgens; Noes: None; Absent: None; Abstain: None). 

10. COMMITTEE REPORTS (audio 205:21) 
10.1 Audit Committee (Directors Danziger and Jex).  

Director Jex provided the report.  The Audit Committee held a meeting with the Auditor on May 13, 2021. 
A series of questions were asked to the Staff and Auditor and reviewed the scope of the audit.  Director 
Jex reported that the audit is in good shape.  Director Danziger concurred.   

10.2 Finance Committee (Directors Danziger and Jorgens). No report. 
10.3 Facilities Station 41 Ad Hoc Committee (Directors Baitx and Donner). No report. 
10.4 Joint Fire Prevention Ad Hoc Committee (Directors Danziger and Jorgens). No report. 
President Jorgens opened public comment. 
Jonathan Goodwin, Canyon resident, requested an update on Measure R spending.  President Jorgens 
encouraged Mr. Goodwin to talk to the City of Orinda for an update.  Director Danziger stated that the Measure 
R meetings are held virtually on the second Wednesday at 6:30PM via Zoom. 
There were no requests to address the Board.  President Jorgens closed public comment. 

11. ANNOUNCEMENTS (audio 206:35) 
11.1 Brief information only reports related to meetings attended by a Director at District expense 

(Government Code Section 53232.3(d)).  No report. 
11.2 Questions and informational comments from Board members and Staff.  No report. 
11.3 Fire Chief Updates 

11.3.1 Operations 
Battalion Chief Gehling provided the report and reviewed training activities for the previous 
quarter and the next quarter.  Photos were shared and attached to these minutes item 11.3.1 
attachment A. 
Previous Quarter Training Activities: 

Water Supply: 
 Long driveway scenario with relay 

operations 
 Double 2 ½ hydrant scenarios 

Con Fire Truck Academy: 
 MOFD Battalion Chiefs attended Con Fire 

truck academy to share best practices 
Terra Torch Training: 



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 12 of 13 
 

 

 Water shuttle operations 
 Hose testing  

Bollinger Canyon Orientation: 
 Marked fire department water supplies 
 Structure fire scenarios at 1045 

Bollinger Canyon Dr 
Live Fire Drills: 
 Crews attended live-fire training at the 

MOTCO burn building 
 Quarterly SCBA Drills with MOFD burn 

trailer 
Tractor Drawn Aerial (TDA) Training: 
 Eight members received 16hr TDA in-

service training   
All suppression members have received 
TDA In-service training Rapid Intervention 
Crew (RIC) Operations: 
 MOFD completed RIC operation 

training with a live drill in West County 

 MOFD Terra Torch operators completed 
Terra Torch training while supporting 
prescribed fire pile burning projects 
in/around the Pinehurst road fuel break in 
Canyon 

Acting Captain Training: 
 Completed scenario and leadership 

training for members who are currently 
acting captains or working on acting 
captain task books 

 Training included water supply/bridge 
operations/360 size ups/dispatch roll ca  
procedures. 

EMS Training 
 1st quarter EMS, Target Solution 

assignments 
 Infrequent/high-risk skills refresher  
 EMT/Paramedic COVID-19 vaccine 

administration certification 
Training Next Quarter: 

• Captains Exam (June 4) 
• RT-130 Training 
• Off-road driving 
• Ongoing fire trail orientation   
• Canyon Water Supply Drill 

• S-219 Class at Painted Rock location 
• Hydrant Inspections 
• Side x side UTV in service all members 
• Trans Bay Tube BART Drill 
• Caldecott Tunnel Drill  

11.3.2 Fire Adaptive Community Ambassador Program 
Fire Chief Winnacker provided the report and presented a PowerPoint presentation, attached to 
these minutes, item 11.3.2 attachment A.  MOFD is currently conducting a Fire Adapted 
Community – Ambassadors (FAC-A) pilot program to address in-person requests for visits to 
explain best fuel mitigation and defensible space practices. In April and May 2021, the program 
trained 23 volunteers through a fire behavior and fuel mitigation basics course and four in-person 
field training events. As the volunteers provide the in-person services, they report progress via a 
Survey 1-2-3 application.  This program does not involve inspections or reporting of conditions 
and is intended to increase awareness of the risk of wildfire and the simple steps residents should 
take to develop defensible space utilizing a checklist.  Staff will monitor and support these efforts 
with a planned assessment in August to determine if the program should be expanded and made 
permanent. 

Fire Chief Winnacker demonstrated a video of the liDAR work MOFD utilizes with the generous 
funding from the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation to conduct ground-based street-level 
liDARr of the roadsides in the District working with NCTech Firm out of Scotland.  The LiDAR 
imaging measures the vegetation above the roadside and provides a three-dimensional digital 
rendering of the vegetation.  MOFD has captured this data of every street in the District, which 
will help categorize the roadside fuels.  The data will indicate if the site is non-compliant and 
eliminate the need to send Fire Prevention Staff to assess the parcel.  Fire Chief Winnacker 
thanked the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation for the continued funding and Communication 
Support volunteers for capturing the data. 

11.3.3 Human Resources 
Human Resources Manager Franklin provided the report.  The Fuels Mitigation Specialist 
interviews are scheduled for May 20, 2021, with twelve applications received and seven 
interviews scheduled.  The Captain’s exam is scheduled for June 4, 2021. 

11.3.4 Finance Report 
Finance Manager Smith provided the report and gave a presentation on the status of OES 
reimbursement, attached to these minutes, item 11.3.4, attachment A. OES Strike Team 
receivables $3,142,756. OES payments received $2,184,963, with net receivable outstanding 
$957,793.  The most recent payment was received on April 27, 2021, with 23 invoices paid and 
12 invoices outstanding.  Five personnel staffed COVID vaccine clinics in April for a total of 39.33 
hours or $3K in payroll.  Total reimbursements submitted $17.5k. Interim Audit 2021 Fieldwork – 
completed – all items requested by Auditor have been provided  

11.3.5 Fire Marshal 
Fire Marshal Isaacs provided the report and shared the monthly Fire Prevention Report, attached 
to these minutes as Item 11.3.5 Attachment A.  The District received 51 dead tree complaints, 



Regular Board Meeting Minutes 
May 19, 2021 

Page 13 of 13 
 

 

54 exterior hazard complaints, 286 property transfer requests, and 212 property transferred.  Staff 
conducted 16 state-mandated inspections and 159 plan reviews. The exterior hazard inspections 
for 2021 will start on June 1.  Staff completed 28 days of chipping and removed 60 tons of 
material.  Fire Marshal Isaacs reviewed a list of current project plans for the quarter.  Three grants 
were submitted to the State of California. One Forest Health Grant totaling $15M. The Burn Ban 
is now in effect due to the CAL FIRE Santa Clara Unit instituting their burn ban.  Ordinance 20-
03 goes into effect 24 hours after CAL FIRE.  Fire Marshal Isaacs gave a shout-out to Miramonte 
High School student Katlin for helping with our community messaging. 

11.4 Communications Received 
Fire Chief Winnacker reported no new communications beyond which was previously published.   

11.5 Future Agenda Items 
President Jorgens reviewed the future agenda items as closed session Station 41 rebuild, the Long-
Range Financial Forecast, the Budget adoption, and rules revision.  Director Danziger requested Station 
42 rebuild be on a regular agenda after the closed session. 

Director Danziger requested a summary report on assembly bill SB804 and requested the Board take 
action to support the bill. 

President Jorgens opened Public Comment. 
Jonathan Goodwin, Canyon resident, expressed appreciation for the finances, fire prevention work, and 
training exercises performed.  Mr. Goodwin suggested the Battalion Chief’s report be placed on the 
website and sent out to the Moraga Town Council and City of Orinda Council.  Mr. Goodwin suggested, 
in addition to bringing in the agencies listed for the training, that MOFD consider bringing in station 24 
from the City of Oakland Fire Department.  Mr. Goodwin advised that the status has not changed on the 
MOFD water tank, the chain, and the lock that is supposed to be on that valve. 

There were no further requests to address the Board.  President Jorgens opened Public 
Comment.  No further discussion by the Board. 

12. ADJOURNMENT 
At 11:05 p.m., Director Danziger motion and seconded by Director Donner to adjourn the meeting.  Said 
motion carried 5-0 roll call vote (Ayes: Baitx, Danziger, Donner, Jex, and Jorgens; Noes: None; Absent: 
None; Abstain: None). 

 

Marcia Holbrook,  
District Secretary/District Clerk 

For an audio recording of this and other Board meetings, please visit the MOFD District Board Meeting at www.mofd.org/agendas. 









Having anything less than a full-service independent Fire District with resources available 
to meet our area’s unique needs, for both life-saving paramedic and fire suppression 
services, is of grave concern to our residents and their elected City Council.   
 
The MOFD is governed by a board elected by our voters, and it is incumbent upon the 
Board to represent the interests of the Moraga and Orinda communities as its highest 
priority.   
 
As the Orinda City Council has done on several occasions in the past, we stand ready to 
protect and ensure the continued provision of the highest quality fire and paramedic 
services to our community.  This can only be done through maintaining our strong and 
independent fire district with a Board of Directors whose highest and only priority is to 
serve the residents of the Moraga Orinda Fire District.   
 
We urge you to abandon this ill-conceived, untimely, and unnecessary consideration of 
consolidation. 
 
 
Sincerely yours, 

 
Amy Worth 
Mayor of Orinda 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Item 9.2A



























Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



From: Charlie Coane <  
Date: May 10, 2021 at 1:42:22 PM PDT 
To: Mike McCluer <mmccluer@moraga.ca.us>, Steve Woehleke <swoehleke@moraga.ca.us>, Teresa 
Onoda <tonoda@moraga.ca.us>, Renata Sos <rsos@moraga.ca.us>, David Stromberg 
<dstromberg@moraga.ca.us>, Marty McInturf <mmcinturf@moraga.ca.us> 
Subject: MOFD Issues 

  

What are the advantages to the citizens of Moraga and Orinda to consolidate the MOFD into 
the county?? Why do that? 
CCC 
 

Charlie Coane  

 

Item 9.2B



From: Brian Myers  
Date: May 10, 2021 at 2:49:30 PM PDT 
To: Mike McCluer <mmccluer@moraga.ca.us>, Steve Woehleke <swoehleke@moraga.ca.us>, Teresa 
Onoda <tonoda@moraga.ca.us>, Renata Sos <rsos@moraga.ca.us>, David Stromberg 
<dstromberg@moraga.ca.us>, Marty McInturf <mmcinturf@moraga.ca.us> 
Subject: We opposed MOFD dissolution 

We think MOFD is performing well as is and have no reason to consider any changes.   
 
We are against dissolution and support the town sending a letter and using all resources required to 
prevent this breach of public trust.  
 
Brian and Heather Myers  
 

Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



Item 9.2B



From: Elizabeth Kalpakjian <   
Sent: Tuesday, May 11, 2021 5:16 PM 
To: gbaitx@mofd.org; mmjjex@gmail.com; stevedformofd@gmail.com; mdonnermofd@gmail.com; 
Craig.Jorgens@gmail.com; dwinnacker@mofd.org; info@mofd.org 
Cc: Mike McCluer <mmccluer@moraga.ca.us>; Steve Woehleke <swoehleke@moraga.ca.us>; Teresa 
Onoda <tonoda@moraga.ca.us>; Renata Sos <rsos@moraga.ca.us>; David Stromberg 
<dstromberg@moraga.ca.us>; Marty McInturf <mmcinturf@moraga.ca.us>; Cynthia Battenberg 
<cbattenberg@moraga.ca.us> 
 
Subject: No time wasted on MOFD consolidation talks 
 
Dear President Jorgens and Members of the Board: 
 
I understand that an agenda item and associated discussion of financial forecasts and process overview 
for a potential MOFD/Confire merger will occur at your May 19 Board meeting. 
 
As a resident of Sanders Ranch in Moraga, my family has benefited from MOFD’s exemplary response to 
two sizable open space fires in as many years, and a 911 call.  I am quite sure that having MOFD right 
here only a few minutes away made all the difference. 
 
I vehemently OPPOSE the exploration of a potential merger with Confire, and ask that you do not use 
MOFD resources, including time and money further exploring any consolidation which is not in the 
interest of the Town and Residents of Moraga.  I hope that you will do the job to which you were 
elected, to represent the residents of Moraga and their interests to ensure time and money only be 
spent on the high-quality fire safety, firefighting and emergency response services we have invested in 
and enjoyed for decades. 
 
Thank you for your consideration, 
 
Elizabeth and Norayr Kalpakjian 
Moraga, CA  
 

Item 9.2B



From: Larry Briggs <   
Sent: Tuesday, May 11, 2021 8:30 PM 
To: Mike McCluer <mmccluer@moraga.ca.us>; Steve Woehleke <swoehleke@moraga.ca.us>; Teresa 
Onoda <tonoda@moraga.ca.us>; Renata Sos <rsos@moraga.ca.us>; David Stromberg 
<dstromberg@moraga.ca.us>; Marty McInturf <mmcinturf@moraga.ca.us> 
Subject: Consideration of Dissolution of Moraga Orinda fire District 
 

We understand that the MOFD Board will be considering dissolving the MOFD and relying on the county 
for fire and ambulance. I don’t see what problems they might be addressing and trying to fix. 

 We are opposed to dissolving MOFD and having all fire and ambulance service being taken over by the 
county. Our fire district was formed by the voters many years ago to improve the quality of service to 
the residents of our communities from that when we were subject to county level decisions. By forming 
our own district, the level of both fire and ambulance service has been much higher. 

 I am not aware that the consideration of reverting to county fire and ambulance service is driven by the 
expectation that our service levels would improve. In fact, I don’t know that there would, or could, be a 
commitment that service levels would even be maintained at our current levels. 

 Why would we want to risk reduced service levels at a time when we are at increasing fire risk and 
experiencing another drought (or a continuation of an extended on-and-of drought). When our risks are 
already higher, we should not be considering adding another element of risk. 

 We would hope that our Town Council would strongly oppose such an action. 

 Thank you. 

Larry & Barbara Briggs  

Moraga 

 

Item 9.2B



From: Clark Vilas <   
Sent: Wednesday, May 12, 2021 8:42 AM 
To: Mike McCluer <mmccluer@moraga.ca.us>; Steve Woehleke <swoehleke@moraga.ca.us>; Teresa 
Onoda <tonoda@moraga.ca.us>; Renata Sos <rsos@moraga.ca.us>; David Stromberg 
<dstromberg@moraga.ca.us>; Marty McInturf <mmcinturf@moraga.ca.us> 
 
Subject: Fire Dept. merger 
 
 
We have lived in Moraga since 1967 - 1967-  and strongly oppose a merger with the larger Consolidated 
Fire Dept.  The merger with Orinda was okay, this is definitely NOT. 
 
Thank you for listening 
 
Linda and Clark Vilas 
Sanders Ranch area 
 

Item 9.2B



From: SMARTMoraga Community <community@smartmoraga.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, May 12, 2021 8:56 AM 
To: Mike McCluer <mmccluer@moraga.ca.us>; Steve Woehleke <swoehleke@moraga.ca.us>; Teresa 
Onoda <tonoda@moraga.ca.us>; Renata Sos <rsos@moraga.ca.us>; David Stromberg 
<dstromberg@moraga.ca.us>; Marty McInturf <mmcinturf@moraga.ca.us> 
Cc: Cynthia Battenberg <cbattenberg@moraga.ca.us> 
Subject: Public Comments for 5/12 Agenda Item 11C 
 
Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers, 
 
We write regarding the capital replacement and traffic safety items (combined or at least interrelated on 
tonight's agenda) and offer the following observations and suggestions: 
 
The town’s capital replacement and traffic safety (and CIP, for that matter) projects should be 
driven by what is needed. Discretionary spending on items of dubious value should be avoided, and 
projects pursued primarily because they have grant funding associated with them should receive 
extra scrutiny. The latter are the ones where we’re often told “they’re free”, when in reality the town 
incurs a portion of the expenses (of varying degrees) and nonetheless bears the entire cost of time that 
could otherwise be spent on endeavors of greater value to the town. 
 
In the context of this evening’s discussion, this mostly applies to the potential traffic safety endeavors. 
Sidewalks to improve safety near schools – where sidewalks currently don’t exist – quite clearly 
are a proper use of the town’s limited funds. Similarly, improving crosswalk visibility in areas 
where pedestrians frequently cross highly-traveled roads have immediate utility and a high ROI. 
 
Conversely, some items are beyond wishful thinking and instead are driven by wholly unrealistic, 
eyes-bigger-than-our-stomach plans (e.g. Bike|Walk, Livable Moraga Rd) developed as if Moraga 
wishes to become a Berkeley-style pedestrian and bicycle utopia (notwithstanding the fallacy that 
Berkeley is anything of the sort).  Further, the paltry number of survey respondents and an apparent lack 
of representative community stakeholders call into question the validity of conclusions. They do look nice; 
they’re just wholly inappropriate, unrealistic, or both. 
 
Some items simply have very little utility and should be dispensed with as such. A Rheem Bl bike 
line to the town limits in Orinda will serve no one. Reflective traffic signals are totally unnecessary here, 
as we are not a visually chaotic/crowded urban city with signals that are difficult to discern. Anyone who 
believes better synchronization of traffic signals is of any necessity or value in Moraga needs to have their 
head examined. A bike lane from the Canyon Bridge to the staging area would be an absurd and wholly 
irresponsible expense when the protected EBMUD trail parallels the road just feet away. 
 
The creation of projects for the sole reason that grants may be available needs to end. Time is 
finite and staff spends time applying for and managing these grant-driven projects whose genesis is 
“some free money” rather than what the Town actually needs and could implement to good effect in short 
order and at relatively low cost.  The continuing roundabout study madness persists as an embarrassing 
example; the council at least twice has indicated this project has no future, yet here it is again, active 
“because of the grant” despite everyone knowing the plug should have been pulled long ago. We note 
that the roundabout consulting firm continues to recommend roundabouts. While we do no question that 
the subject intersections could be improved, we also note that the City of Lafayette addressed 
similarly-challenging intersections on Reliez Station Rd with traffic signals for a small fraction of 
the cost of Moraga's envisioned roundabouts. Even if the roundabouts would be "more effective" it 
seems quite clear that the marginal utility is not commensurate with the significantly increased potential 
price tag. We know you know this, but communicating such would be helpful as this grant-driven pipe 
dream draws closer to its hopeful, near conclusion. 
 

Item 9.2B



With respect to the capital replacement plan and/or CIP activities, the ongoing/funded activities 
highlighted in Attachment C of the staff report generally appear reasonable, save any further 
discretionary time or expense associated with Livable Moraga Rd.   

• We primarily note the nearly-million-dollars required for the Hacienda. The facility requires nearly 
$300,000 per year in operating subsidies along with an enormous amount of capital expenses. 
Acknowledging the town has (and presently is) seeking ways to reduce the losses incurred there, 
we believe there remains a need for the council to specifically and more clearly define the 
purpose of the Hacienda. Its intended purpose is unclear: if it is a wedding and meeting venue, 
it’s a terribly unprofitable one and begs the question why the town believes it should own a 
wedding and meeting venue. If it’s a historic landmark the council believes is worthy of unlimited 
expense, it should definitively say so. If it’s intended to be a public park, it absolutely fails since it 
is open only during business hours during weekdays. What we really have, at the moment, is a 
multi-million-dollar liability for which it is impossible either to gauge “success” or to make rational 
decisions on future investment because it really has no defined purpose against which spending 
and program decisions can be parsed. As with any other capital replacement and CIP activities, 
spending should be prioritized based on needs versus wants. 

 
Insofar as Attachment D associated with potential CIP activities, we offer the following specific 
observations: 

• The proposed electricity generation study strikes us as broader than necessary. While it 
clearly makes sense to (1) assess needs and approaches for electrical service in the event of 
PG&E disruptions and (2) ascertain the potential cost savings and ROI from solar power, 
spending time or money on the former seems unnecessary for either the Hacienda or Library 
since neither facility is critical infrastructure that would either need to be - or even be 
beneficial to have - open during power disruptions. We also note that solar energy assessments 
and associated ROI are available at no cost from solar power installers. 

• See our comment(s) on the continued level of spending at the Hacienda and our suggestion 
that a definitive "statement of purpose" is needed for that facility. 

• We presume that any approval of the Moraga Wy to Sanders Dr component of complete 
streets study is limited to the $32k in 2021/22 and not the eye-popping, multi-million-dollar 
figure shown thereafter. Although, as was recently discussed in a council meeting, simple and 
inexpensive solutions for crosswalk improvements are fairly obvious on this particular stretch of 
roadway. 

• The Moraga Rd/St Mary's streets study - along with any engineering or construction - 
strikes us as premature and possibly entirely wasteful. That intersection is subject to 
significant and wholesale modification if and when the MCSP is built. Further, it's entirely possible 
that costs associated with MCSP-related changes to half of that intersection would be borne in 
large part (if not entirely) by the developer.  

• We also point out the apparent wastefulness and philosophical inconsistency of investing 
anything in an intersection (or new, discretionary sidewalks adjacent to it) that the town 
already knows will require a complete redesign when the MCSP is built. It strikes us as poor 
form and wasteful that the town would even consider spending money on sidewalks or anything 
else requiring MCSP-related demolition/removal while simultaneously asserting that harmless, 
temporary land use for a local-business-funded field (between Safeway's dumpsters and a 
junkyard, no less) ought to be strictly regulated because of an imminent MCSP build out. One 
costs the town time and thousands (if not hundreds of thousands) of dollars while the other costs 
the town absolutely nothing. 

 
Thank you for your patience reviewing our lengthy comments! 

 

Item 9.2B



From: Denise Coane   
Sent: Wednesday, May 12, 2021 2:44 PM 
To: info@mofd.org 
Cc: Mike McCluer <mmccluer@moraga.ca.us>; Teresa Onoda <tonoda@moraga.ca.us>; David 
Stromberg <dstromberg@moraga.ca.us>; Steve Woehleke <swoehleke@moraga.ca.us>; Renata Sos 
<rsos@moraga.ca.us>; Marty McInturf <mmcinturf@moraga.ca.us>; Chief Dave Winnacker 
<dwinnacker@mofd.org>; Jon King <king@moraga.ca.us>; Ron Haas <ron@moragacc.com> 
 
Subject: LET'S END THIS TALK OF CONSOLIDATION AND MOVE ON 
 
Dear MOFD Board of Directors:   For Public Record   
   
In a small town we work together to battle whatever comes our way.  Since February 2019 I've 
personally along with 60 other Moraga Country Club residents sat on a Block Captain Committee 
established by the Moraga Country Club Home Owners Association and club management.  Our mission 
is to primarily watch out for neighbors and their homes during fire season. We've all sat through 
countless presentations, Zoomed with our Fire Chief and local fire department, built relationships with 
Norcal and Firewise representatives, participated in evacuation drills (Dec. 2018) and Country Warning 
System drills.  We go door to door to make sure our neighbors and especially seniors know how to get 
out of their home in fire and earthquake emergencies.  Our monthly block party took one event to help 
educate neighbors about fire danger by former firemen and an MOFD Director.  We all know more 
about this than we'd like.  In addition we (along with every resident of MCC) have invested financially 
into the Firewise system and while I am writing you they are cutting down a significant portion of of our 
landscaping.  Our Police Chief spent over two hours answering Town Hall attendees questions after the 
2018 Sanders Ranch fire and we were also there.  The church on the hill has all of you, our fire chief and 
crew as well as town officials and educators in a prayer guide.   
   
This is what we do to work together and watch out for each other in Moraga.  A merger, consolidation 
or union involvement is not the answer to commendable fire service.  And, how would you feel if 
someone died due to County Service slow response because of cut in services?   
   
Is this all about Money ... or Saving Lives?   
   
Respectfully,  
   
Denise Coane   
Moraga, CA 94556   
 

Item 9.2B



1 

MORAGA ORINDA FIRE DISTRICT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 5/19/21 

REGULAR AGENDA ITEM 9.2 

“CONSOLIDATION WITH CONFIRE” 

DICK OLSEN COMMENTS 

GOOD EVENING DIRECTORS! 

MY NAME IS DICK OLSEN. I AM A 49 YEAR RESIDENT OF MORAGA.  I AM ALSO A 

FORMER MEMBER OF THE MORAGA FIRE COMMISSION, A FORMER MEMBER OF 

OUR COUNTY’S EMERGENCY MEDICAL CARE COMMITTEE, WAS A LEADER IN THE 

EFFORT THAT LED TO THE SUCCESSFUL FORMATION OF THE MORAGA ORINDA 

FIRE DISTRICT AND FINALLY, I AM ALSO A FORMER MEMBER OF THE MORAGA 

ORINDA FIRE DISTRICT’S BOARD OF DIRECTORS. 

THIS EVENING, I WOULD LIKE TO SHARE WITH YOU A CONCERN THAT I HAVE -- BUT 

HAVE NOT HEARD OR SEEN ANYONE ELSE PREVIOUSLY RAISE -- WITH REGARD TO 

THE PROPOSAL TO POTENTIALLY MERGE THE MORAGA ORINDA FIRE DISTRICT 

INTO THE CONTRA COSTA COUNTY FIRE DISTRICT OR “CONFIRE” AS IT IS 

COMMONLY CALLED. 

THAT IS: IF THE MOFD WERE MERGED INTO CONFIRE, THAT COULD HAVE A 

PROFOUND, NEGATIVE IMPACT UPON THE FIREFIGHTERS WHO CURRENTLY STAFF 

OUR FIRE STATIONS IN MORAGA AND ORINDA.  THAT’S BECAUSE EVERY YEAR, 

FIREFIGHTERS BID FOR THE STATION AT WHICH THEY WOULD LIKE TO SERVE.THE 

PROCESS IS BASED UPON SENIORITY.THE LONGEST SERVING FIREFIGHTERS ENJOY 

A PREFERENCE IN THE STATION SELECTION PROCESS. 

AS MY FRIEND VINCE WELLS ONCE SHARED WITH ME WHEN WE SAT TOGETHER AT 

A CCCERA (i.e. CONTRA COSTA COUNTY EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT ASSOCIATION) 

MEETING, IF THE MOFD WERE TO BECOME A PART OF CONFIRE, THEN, BECAUSE 

OUR LOCAL STATIONS ARE NOT AS BUSY AS MOST OF THE STATIONS IN CONFIRE, 

MANY LONG-SERVING CONFIRE FIREFIGHTERS WHO ARE NEARING RETIREMENT 

AGE WOULD SUBMIT THEIR STATION BIDS TO WORK AT THE STATIONS IN MORAGA 

AND ORINDA. IF THAT WERE TO OCCUR, THEN A SIGNIFICANT CONSEQUENCE 

WOULD BE THAT SOME – AND POSSIBLY MANY CURRENT MORAGA ORINDA 

FIREFIGHTERS WOULD BE “BUMPED” FROM THEIR CURRENT STATION 

ASSIGNMENTS WITHIN THE MOFD. OUR DISTRICT WOULD THEREBY LOSE THE 

DEPARTING FIREFIGHTERS’ KNOWLEDGE OF OUR LOCAL AREA AND THEIR 

FAMILIARITY WITH OUR UNIQUE SET OF FIRE RISKS, AS WELL AS THEIR 

KNOWLEDGE OF THE PRE-PLANS THAT EXIST FOR DEALING WITH THOSE UNIQUE 

LOCAL RISKS. 

I SUBMIT THAT IF THAT WERE TO OCCUR, THAT WOULD DIRECTLY RESULT IN A 

MAJOR, NEGATIVE IMPACT ON THE QUALITY OF THE FIRE AND EMERGENCY 

MEDICAL SERVICES THAT ARE CURRENTLY BEING PROVIDED TO OUR 

COMMUNITIES BY THE FIREFIGHTERS WHO ARE PRESENTLY EMPLOYED BY THE 

MORAGA ORINDA FIRE DISTRICT. 

THANK YOU VERY MUCH FOR YOUR ATTENTION TO MY CONCERN AND MY 

RELATED COMMENTS. 

Item 9.2C



From: Michael Hofmayer
To: Info
Subject: Support for an Independent MOFD
Date: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 6:28:44 PM

Our family is very supportive of MOFD's work under Chief Winnacker. We understand the risks posed by any move to subsume this
model fire department into Con Fire.  Current wildfire danger resulting from recurring drought and global warming poses an existential
menace to our community, which is located on the edge of wildlands stretching north as far as the Sacramento River. 

Multiple times each year, beginning in early spring and ending as late as November, we face red flag warnings.  We realize that lightning,
any accidental spark, or arson could combine with an offshore (aka “Diablo wind”) to threaten our lives and destroy everything in our
neighborhood.  

When Orinda voted to become a City in 1985, our founding citizens did so for many of the benefits at stake here. We particularly value
this fire district's independent paramedic response capacity.

We encourage every Orindan to attend the May 19 Zoom event to better understand the issues at stake and how we can permanently
prevent adoption of this ill conceived proposal.

Michael Hofmayer and Ann Tipton

Orinda

Item 9.2D



From: Mark McCullah
To: Info
Subject: Good evening everyone.
Date: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 8:05:36 PM

Good evening everyone.

My name is mark mccullah, I’m a captain, a labor rep and a veteran of 15 yrs. I don’t want to touch on the other
issues many of our brothers are going to make so I will make it quick.

First off there are no facts to be disputed or posted surrounding a merger without a feasibility study so anybody
claiming facts or concerns at this point that’s all just noise and opinion.

Secondly this conversation was provoked due to ultra conservative board members questioning mofds long term
sustainability due primarily to their own decision making with mofd funds. Which leads all of our firefighters to
question their own job security.

We are glad you all are finally paying attention and we hope u continue to do so because for at least one of your
directors this is not about local control , it’s about total control and how he personally has been benefiting from it,
while speaking out against pay and benefits for our firefighters his entire tenure

To wrap this all up shame on anyone calling out Director Baitx for having the backbone to do his job as an elected
official despite it being not only against his own opinion but seemingly the popular one as well. We should all be
thankful to have representatives willing to do that on our behalf

Thank u for your time

Sent from my iPhone

Item 9.2D





course Mr. Wells is certainly entitled to speak his mind during the Public comment. On the other hand,
Director Baitx (MOFD Zone 1)  supported the idea to consider having the Board look into the “numbers”
and review them with the City of Orinda and the Town of Moraga to “determine” if it could be more
financially responsible to consolidate with a larger agency.  His comment and suggestion, at the April
meeting that a report from Chief Winnacker to the Board regarding consolidation should be considered. I
cannot imagine that any longtime residents of this fire district would not be extremely upset to read the
Minutes (pages 13 & 14) of the March 17 Board meeting. I would venture to say that when residents of
the District read that from one of their Directors they would consider that heresy.  I would bet that mine is
certainly not the only letter you have or will have received on this subject.  I suggest the Board read each
letter carefully and remember that elections are only a little over a year away. Think about that. 

Considering the history of both the old Moraga Fire District and Orinda Fire District, the community’s fight
against numerous attempts by ConFire and several members of the County Board of Supervisors to
“consolidate” into the County operations culminated with a victory in 1997 enabling the residents to create
the independent Moraga Orinda Fire District .This is what the people of this Fire District demanded, voted
for and continue to value.

I guess I should tell you that I was a volunteer in the old Moraga Fire Protection in 1969 until 1972,  a MORAGA
Fire Commissioner for many years (Board President several times), personally involved in fighting the bid by the
County to annex Moraga Fire District into ConFire (several times), was president of the Contra Costa Fire
Commissioner Association for two terms and was part of the Citizens committee that formulated the LAFCO
application that led to the formation of the new MOFD. Served twelve years on the Board of the newly formed
District and served two terms as President. Have been a resident of Moraga for over 52 years so I think I can speak
on this issue.

 I suggest the Board place Item 9.2 in the dead file right after you hear Chief Winnacker’ s report.

 Respectfully submitted,

 Gordon Nathan

Zone 1

Item 9.2E



1

Board of Directors Meeting
May 19, 2021

April 2021 ‐ Board Budget Workshop

May 2021 – Proposed Budget

June 2021 –Budget Scheduled for Adoption

October 2021 – Latest date to adopt Budget

 Two items were moved 
from the Capital 
Projects Fund to the 
General Fund ($13K)

General Fund Revenue $28.7M 
Salaries and Benefits 
Expenditures 25.1

Operating Expenditures 2.8
Revenue in Excess of 
Expenditures $0.7M

Salaries and benefits ‐ Suppression staff $18,418,849 

Salaries and benefits ‐Administration staff 1,146,489 

Worker's compensation insurance 1,033,239 

Retiree health insurance 876,000 

Unemployment insurance 11,000 

Operating Expenses 2,625,450

Total non‐discretionary $24,111,027 

Pension rate stabilization trust contribution $2,362,470 

Salaries and benefits ‐ Fuels Mitigation staff 481,000 

OPEB trust contribution 434,528 

Emergency Preparedness/CERT 277,337 

Fuels mitigation operating expenses 100,000 

Fire Chief contingency 100,000 

Discretionary training 35,000 

Fire station furniture 12,000 

Exercise equipment 14,000 

GIS mapping 5,000 

Hat badges 4,700

Total discretionary $3,826,035 

Item 9.4A



5/29/2021

2

Board 5.00

Finance 3.10 

Human Resources 2.25 

Information Technology 0.25

Suppression Staffing 61.00

Fire Prevention 1.00

Fuels Mitigation 4.00

Emergency Preparedness 0.50
Total 77.1

 Emergency Operations

 Develop wildland fire response plan

 Emergency Medical Services

 Provide COVID‐19 support to District personnel and 
Contra Costa County Health Services 

 Training

 Develop the training site at Station 41

 Fire Prevention

 Continuation of community chipping services

 Adoption of citation authority and process

 Develop technology based systems to increase 
efficiency of assessments

 Administration

 Implement digital board meeting agenda and packet

 Implement technology improvements to the 
accounts payable process

Chipper and Truck $180,000 

Capital Outlay ‐ LifePak 15 Monitor 2x 80,000 

Capital Outlay ‐Oxygen Generator and Fill Station 65,000 

Capital Outlay ‐Utility Pickup  55,000 

Capital Outlay ‐ E‐43 Hurst Extrication Tools 38,000 

Station 42 Landscaping 20,000 

Station 44 Landscaping 20,000

Total $458,000

 Available property tax revenue due to the 
conclusion of the pension obligation bonds ‐
$2.154M

 General Fund discretionary expenditure budget
 Station 41/Administration rebuild project
 Capital projects purchases
 Any other direction regarding the proposed 
budget

Item 9.4A



From: Mark McCullah
To: Info
Subject: Annual budget
Date: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 9:19:45 PM

Good evening everyone.

In response to the chipper program, and having to fund that program with capitol resources I feel it’s important to
relay numerous public questioning surrounding the topic brought to our attention at the fire station.

This is a very well received option for our citizens and the comments I have received are that

1. Why can’t it be year round?

2. How are people that haven’t signed up for it able to dump their debris?

So my question would be why don’t we make this service self sustainable by charging a fee?

Thank you for your consideration

Sent from my iPhone

Item 9.4B

mailto:mmccullah@ccfirefighters.org
mailto:Info@mofd.org


Item 11.3.1A

1

Bollinger Canyon Training  Bollinger Canyon Training 

Live Fire training at MOTCO Multi company drill with MOFD burn trailer

Vehicle in Creek Terra Torch Operations 



Item 11.3.2A

1

Fire Adapted Community‐
Ambassadors

Pilot Program Update

May 2021

FAC‐A Overview

• Volunteers training in April
• Assessments began in May

• 157 assessments completed to 
date

• Pilot program
• Intended to increase outreach 
and education



Item 11.3.4A

1

Finance Report
May 19, 2021

Strike Team Reimbursement ‐ OES

• Strike Team Receivable Update:
OES Strike Team Receivable  $3,142,756

OES Payments Received $2,184,963

Net Receivable Outstanding $ 957,793

• Most recent payment was April 27th

• New Invoices in April and May for OES HQ Covid Support Assignments

• 23 Invoices Paid, 12 Invoices Outstanding

Finance – Other items

• Covid Vaccine Clinic Reimbursement
• 5 personnel staffed Covid vaccine clinics in April – 39.33 hours
• Payroll for staffing to be reimbursed by FEMA

• Submitting reimbursement for April payroll in amount of $3k – total
reimbursements submitted = $17.5k

• Interim Audit 2021 Fieldwork – completed – all items requested by 
Auditor have been provided.



Fire Prevention Report 
April 2021 

Number of Complaints: 
Types of Complaints: 

• Dead tree- 51
• Exterior Hazard- 54 YTD
• Property Transfer Inspections – 286 YTD
• Number of Properties Transferred – 212 YTD

Exterior Hazard Inspections 2021: 
• Number of Assessments- 0
• Number Pass- 0 / Number Failed- 0

• Number of first inspections Passed- 0
• Number of first inspections Failed- 0

• Number of failed properties moving to pre-lien hearing- 0
• Number of properties ordered to abate – 0 / Number of properties abated - 0

Chipping: State Mandated Inspections: 
YTD- 28 Days 108 Tons 
• Number of days- 16
• Total estimated material

removed- 60

• E Occupancy-2
• R-2 Occupancy-16
• B Occupancy – 0
• I-2 Occupancy -

PLAN REVIEW: 

2020- 296 

2021- 
January-55  April- 44 July- October- 
February-20 May- August- November- 
March- 40 June- September- December- 

CURRENT PROJECTS PLAN FOR THIS QUARTER: 
 Interview for Fuels Mitigation Staff
 Training of Fuels mitigation staff
 Preparation for exterior hazard inspections
 Fire Adapted Community-( FAC-A)

Ambassador Training Completed
 Large Parcel and Evacuation Route Letters
 Submitted Grants
 Burn Ban in Effect

 Messaging Exterior hazard deadline
 Begin exterior hazard abatement

inspections
 Hiring of 3rd Fuels Mitigation

Specialist
 

Moraga-Orinda Fire District 
Office of the Fire Marshal 

Item 11.3.5A


	BOARD OF DIRECTORS
	REGULAR BOARD MEETING MINUTES
	1. OPENING CEREMONIES
	2. PUBLIC COMMENT (audio 1:23)
	3. CLOSED SESSION
	4. RECONVENE THE MEETING (audio 12:25)
	4.1 Call the Meeting to Order
	4.2 Roll Call

	5. REPORT OF CLOSED SESSION ACTION (audio 13:11)
	6. PUBLIC COMMENT - ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA (audio 13:25)
	7. PUBLIC HEARING (audio 18:45)
	7.1 Public Hearing on Second Reading and Adoption of Ordinance 21-01 Moraga-Orinda Fire District of Contra Costa County, California, Adopting an Administrative Citation Program.

	8. CONSENT AGENDA (audio 21:55)
	8.1 Meeting Minutes – April 21, 2021 (Regular). Staff Recommendation: Approve and File
	8.2 Monthly Incident Report – April 2021. Staff Recommendation: Approve and File
	8.3 Monthly Check/Voucher Register – April 2021. Staff Recommendation: Approve and File
	8.4 Monthly Financial Report – April 2021. Staff Recommendation: Approve and File
	8.5 Quarterly Treasurer’s Investment Report – January 2021-March 2021. Staff Recommendation: Approve and File
	8.6 Approval of Payment to Contra Costa County Fire Protection District for Dispatching and Communications Services. Staff Recommendation: Approve and File

	9. REGULAR AGENDA
	9.1 EBMUD Fire Hydrant Maintenance Program (audio 23:00)
	9.2 Consolidation with Contra Costa County Fire Protection District (audio 63:12)
	9.3 Resolution 21-09, a Resolution of the Moraga-Orinda Fire District of Contra Costa County to urge the California Department of Transportation to mitigate combustive vegetation in state-owned lands traversing the District (audio 128:18)
	9.4 Proposed Annual Operating Budget Fiscal Year 2022 (audio 133:45)
	9.5 Resolution 21-08 – Adopting revised Rules of Procedure for Board Meetings and related Functions and Activities Board Rules & Procedures (audio 167:05)
	9.6 Approval of Grant Management Policy to Allow the Fire Chief to Accept No-Match Fuel Reduction Grants For Services Up to $200,000 (audio 194:17)

	10. COMMITTEE REPORTS (audio 205:21)
	10.1 Audit Committee (Directors Danziger and Jex).
	Director Jex provided the report.  The Audit Committee held a meeting with the Auditor on May 13, 2021. A series of questions were asked to the Staff and Auditor and reviewed the scope of the audit.  Director Jex reported that the audit is in good sha...
	10.2 Finance Committee (Directors Danziger and Jorgens). No report.
	10.3 Facilities Station 41 Ad Hoc Committee (Directors Baitx and Donner). No report.
	10.4 Joint Fire Prevention Ad Hoc Committee (Directors Danziger and Jorgens). No report.

	11. ANNOUNCEMENTS (audio 206:35)
	11.1 Brief information only reports related to meetings attended by a Director at District expense
	11.2 Questions and informational comments from Board members and Staff.  No report.
	11.3 Fire Chief Updates
	11.3.1 Operations
	Battalion Chief Gehling provided the report and reviewed training activities for the previous quarter and the next quarter.  Photos were shared and attached to these minutes item 11.3.1 attachment A.
	Previous Quarter Training Activities:
	11.3.2 Fire Adaptive Community Ambassador Program
	11.3.3 Human Resources
	11.3.4 Finance Report
	Finance Manager Smith provided the report and gave a presentation on the status of OES reimbursement, attached to these minutes, item 11.3.4, attachment A. OES Strike Team receivables $3,142,756. OES payments received $2,184,963, with net receivable o...
	11.3.5 Fire Marshal

	11.4 Communications Received
	11.5 Future Agenda Items

	12. ADJOURNMENT



